1961

Howard Anderson et al v. Utah County and the Board of County Commissioners : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This case is to determine whether the Utah Right to Work Law, sometimes herein referred to as "Law," or "Act," applies to membership or nonmembership in a political party, and

specifically whether it was lawful under that Law for Utah County to fire 37 men from their county jobs because they were members of the Democratic Party.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The trial court held that the appellants had been damaged by their discharge but that the phrase of the Law "labor union, labor organization or any other type of association" did not include political parties, and therefore denied the men the damages and injunctive relief which they sought.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants, by this appeal, seek to be reinstated in their jobs and to be compensated for the damage caused them by their being discharged as assessed and determined by the trial court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On Wednesday, January 4, 1961, the Board of Commissioners of Utah County fired all but three of its highway department employees (R. 48, p 8). Of the three remaining, one was the supervisor of the north crew, one was the supervisor of the south crew, and the other was the book and time keeper for the department. Their employment was terminated on Friday, two days later (R. 48, pp 73-4; R. 48, pp 44-6). All employees so fired were Democrats and had campaigned for the Democratic Party in the previous fall election.

The Board of Commissioners then proceeded to fill the job vacancies in the Highway Department with people who were Republicans, and who were able to obtain, and did obtain, the Utah County Republican Party endorsement, a prerequisite for such employment (R. 48, pp 42, 43, 47).

On Tuesday, January 3, 1961, the day before the wholesale firings, the political composition of the Board of Commissioners had changed from Democratic to Republican, when Democrat Marcellus Neilsen, having lost the election in November, 1960, relinquished his position on the Board to the successful Republican candidate, Sterling Jones. The other commissioners were Republican Rulon Nichols, who had just been re-elected and Democrat Marion Hinckley, a holdover incumbent.

On February 14, 1961, the petitioners filed this action seeking to be reinstated in their jobs and to be given a judgment for damages for their loss of wages. Their action was predicated on the Utah Right to Work Law, Laws of Utah, 1955, Chapter 54; Title 34, Chapter 16 U.C.A., 1953. It was their position that this law prevented the County from firing them if a reason for their discharge was that they were members of any particular "association"; and they asserted that the reason they were fired was because they were members of the Democratic Party and not members of the Republican Party and that such parties were associations within the meaning of the Law.

Respondents moved the Court to dismiss the case because petitioners had failed to state a cause of action. In support of the motion it was argued that the Legislature did not intend a political party to come within the meaning of the word "association", and that if it did mean to include political

parties, then the law was unconstitutional. The Court denied the motion and the case was tried before Judge Keller of the Seventh Judicial District at the instance and request of the presiding judge of the Fourth District.

At the conclusion of the trial, the Court orally announced certain findings of fact (R. 48, p. 439-445), including a finding of damages for the thirty-seven petitioners who appeared at the trial to prosecute their claims, and also found as a reason for their discharge the fact that they were members of the Democratic Party. Having found the issues of fact sufficiently in favor of the petitioners to allow them relief from their loss of wages and other damages if the law applied to their circumstances, the Court then, after taking the matter under advisement, held against them as to the law by reversing the position which the Court, with another judge sitting, had taken when it denied respondents' Motion to Dismiss.

In its Memorandum Decision the Court (R. 27-29) decides the case solely on the meaning of "association". "*This case,*" says the Court, "*turns upon what the Court finds the legislative intention to be in its use of the words 'any other type of association' as used in 34-16-2 UCA, 1953*" (R. 27). The Court then ruled that political parties were not meant to be included within the phrase in question, and therefore denied petitioners the relief which they sought. The ensuing argument shall be limited to the sole point upon which the case turns, viz., the meaning of the phrase "labor union, labor organization, or any other type of association."

First, however, we herewith quote the pertinent sections of the Law which, in the view of appellants, have been violated

by the respondents, together with the remedies provided therefor:

"34-16-4. Any express or implied agreement, understanding or practice between any employer and any labor union, labor organization or any type of association, whereby any person not a member of such union, organization or any other type of association shall be denied the right to work for an employer, or whereby membership or nonmembership in such labor union, labor organization or any other type of association is made a condition of employment or continuation of employment by such employer, or whereby any such union, organization or any other type of association acquires an employment monopoly in any enterprise or industry, is hereby declared to be an illegal combination or conspiracy and against public policy."

"34-16-5. Any express or implied agreement, understanding or practice which is designed to cause or require, or has the effect of causing or requiring, any employer or labor union, labor organization or any other type of association, whether or not a party thereto, to violate any provision of this act is hereby declared an illegal agreement, understanding, or practice and contrary to public policy."

"34-16-8. No employer shall require any person to become or remain a member of any labor union, labor organization or any other type of association as a condition of employment or continuation of employment by such employer."

"34-16-9. No employer shall require any person to abstain or refrain from membership in any labor union, labor organization or any other type of association as a condition of employment or continuation of employment."

"34-16-11. Any employer, person, firm, association,

corporation, employee, labor union, labor organization or any other type of association injured as a result of any violation or threatened violation of any provision of this act or threatened with any such violation shall be entitled to injunctive relief against any and all violators or persons threatening violation, and also to recover from such violator or violators, or person or persons, any and all damages of any character cognizable at common law resulting from such violations or threatened violations. Such remedies shall be independent of and in addition to the penalties and remedies prescribed in other provisions of this act."

"34-16-12. In addition to the penal provisions of this act, any person, firm, corporation, association, or any labor union, labor organization or any other type of association, or any officer, representative, agent or member thereof may be restrained by injunction from doing or continuing to do any of the matters and things prohibited by this act."

"34-16-13. Any person who may be denied employment or be deprived of continuation of his employment in violation of this act shall be entitled to recover from such employer and from any other person, firm, corporation or association acting in concert with him by appropriate action in the courts of this state such **damages as he may have sustained** by reason of such denial or deprivation of employment."

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT'S MEMORANDUM DECISION INDICATES THAT THE RULING HEREIN IS IN ERROR IN THAT IT WAS AN UNWARRANTED JUDICIAL VETO OF LEGISLATIVE AND EXECUTIVE ACTION.

In ruling that a political party was not intended to be included in the word "association", the trial Court gives the following reasons for its decision (R. 28-29):

1. The phrase "any other type of association" is not explicit upon the question of whether political parties are included.

2. It is only because the language may be construed as all inclusive that we draw the implication that political parties are included.

3. Although a political party is an association, it is one which furthers a political end.

4. To accept the language literally to include political parties would be imputing an unreasonable and absurd intention upon the part of the Legislature.

5. We have no statutory law fixing the standards and tenure of public employees.

6. It has been common to elect a person to office in order to provide other and different employees in a particular public employment.

We respectfully observe that these reasons appear to us to accomplish no more than to reveal the trial Court's personal opposition and disagreement with the legislative and executive action in enacting this Law. This is not unexpected, for few laws in the history of our country have, at once, stirred such vigorous acceptance and opposition as has this type of legislation. Of those who study such laws and their effects, there are few who view them passively. And if such be true of the

ordinary "right-to-work" law, much more is it true as to Utah's right-to-work Law, which clearly introduces a new but nevertheless logical and reasonable element which is unique among such laws.

Even so, the trial Court is not within its appropriate powers and rights when it exercises a veto power over legislation which has been duly enacted into law. In the above reasons for the Court's decision, we fail to find any valid rule of interpretation or other legal basis to support or justify the ruling. What we do find, in our view, is nothing more nor less than a substitution of judicial judgment for that of the Legislature.

As to reason 1, 2, 3 and 4, what the Court admits therein would appear to support our position. We are quite willing to concede that the appellants' case does rest upon the premise that the phrase "or any other *type* of association" is all inclusive and that a political party is one of many types of association; and, we assert, that the Legislature in its desire to be "all inclusive" used general language rather than "explicit" language to avoid the risk of overlooking some particular type of association in an enumeration. All that the trial Court does in its first four reasons for its decision is to admit these principles, then disagree with the logical result. We are here forced to observe that the same Court, with the presiding judge sitting, did not think it unreasonable and absurd that political parties were necessarily included in the phrase "or any other type of association" when it denied the County's Motion to Dismiss. This "unreasonable and absurd" point of view was, by the County, strongly urged upon the Court in support of its motion.

As to reason 5, we agree that there is no statutory law fixing the standards and tenure of public employees. But neither are there any statutory standards and tenure as to all the other people who are affected by the Law. When a law regulates an area of activity it does not follow that the law is invalid because it does not regulate other matters that may possibly be associated therewith, nor is there a rule of interpretation that would even suggest it. Otherwise this Law would have to be nullified not only as to public employees, but also as to all other employees who are affected by it, thus nullifying the entire Act.

As to reason 6, there is nothing to prevent a change of employees in public employment if the change is not brought about *because* of one's affiliation with some type of association—a matter which is, and which ought to be recognized as, quite irrelevant to that employment, whether public or private. And what the trial Court and all the rest of us have become accustomed to in the past in this respect will have to be altered as a result of our unique Right to Work Law, just as we are constantly modifying our habits by conforming to new and different rules in a constantly changing and dynamic society. The change may be more good than bad, or more bad than good, and, with time and testing, some social experiments will be eliminated or changed, but that is the nature, indeed the vitality, of a living and growing society; and it is not, under our constitutional form of government, the prerogative of a court to substitute its judgment for that of the Legislature. Time may, or may not, prove the trial Court to be more responsive to the public feeling as to this Law than the Legislature, but that is not the issue. Whether the Law is popular

or not, it is the law, and while it stands, unrepealed by the Legislature, it ought not to be judicially vetoed as to any part of it just because that part seems "absurd" to one of the judges of the Trial Court. For the part that seems absurd to one branch of the Court does not appear absurd to another branch of the same Court; and it is to many other minds the most sensible part of the Law as we shall hereinafter discuss.

Mr. Justice Frankfurter in a concurring opinion in *A.F.L. v. American Sash and Door Co.*, 335 U.S. 538, which was one of the cases involving the constitutionality of a right-to-work statute, makes an effective plea for judicial restraint in nullifying legislative acts when he wrote:

"Even where the social undesirability of a law may be convincingly urged, invalidation of the law by a court debilitates popular democratic government. Most laws dealing with economic and social problems are matters of trial and error. * * * But even if a law is found wanting on trial, it is better that its defects should be demonstrated and removed than that the law should be aborted by judicial fiat. Such an assertion of judicial power deflects responsibility from those on whom in a democratic society it ultimately rests—the people."

Concluding his thinking on this subject, Justice Frankfurter says:

"Matters of policy, however, are by definition matters which demand the resolution of conflicts of value, and the elements of conflicting values are largely imponderable. Assessment of their competing worth involves differences of feeling; it is also an exercise in prophecy. Obviously the proper forum for mediating a clash of feelings and rendering a prophetic judgment is the

body chosen for those purposes by the people. Its functions can be assumed by this Court only in disregard of the historic limits of the Constitution."

In support of its interpretation, the Court cites the case of *Rowley vs. Public Service Commission*, 112 Utah 116, 185 Pac. 2nd 937. We fail to see any similarity of the problems of interpretation between that case and this case. We do, however, agree with the rules of interpretation therein announced and believe that such rules support our case. We refer especially to the following rule therein announced:

"We have not overlooked the legal principle that if the intent of the legislature is by the statute made clear and certain, even though we may believe the legislation absurd and undesirable, we cannot substitute the judgment of the court for the judgment of the legislature. On the other hand, when the legislative intent is not clear and certain, and a literal interpretation of the language of the statute gives an absurd result, then the court is justified in searching the enactment for further indications of legislative intent. These indications can be determined by the wording of the act or by considering the underlying reasons and necessity of the amendments and the purposes to be accomplished."

The Trial Court admits that the intent of the Legislature is made clear and certain. It says: "I have arrived at the conclusion that *to accept literally the language of this section* would result in finding an unreasonable and absurd intention on the part of the Legislature * * * ." (R. 28).

The Court also cites the case of *Norvill vs. State Tax Commission*, 98 Utah 170; 97 Pac. 2nd 937, another case where the factual problem is, we believe, dissimilar from the

instant case but wherein rules of interpretation are announced with which we agree. We refer to the quotation by the Court from Sutherland on Statutory Construction, Section 24, Page 320 (also quoted in the Rowley case):

“In the exposition of a statute the intention of the lawmaker will prevail over the literal sense of the terms; and its reason and intention will prevail over the strict letter. When the words are not explicit, the intention is to be collected from the context; from the occasion and necessity of the law; from the mischief felt, and the remedy in view; and the intention is to be taken or presumed according to what is consonant with reason and good discretion.”

It is among the purposes of this brief to show that the language of the statute clearly includes political parties within the meaning of “association” as used in the Act, and that such meaning is reasonable, was so intended by the Legislature, that it dealt with the mischief felt and the remedy in view, and that the strong statement of public policy in the Act can be fully accomplished only by such an interpretation.

POINT II

THE APPROPRIATE LEGAL RULES OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION AND INTENT REQUIRE THE INCLUSION OF ALL TYPES OF ASSOCIATIONS WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE ACT.

This Court has, many times, been required to rule on problems of statutory intent and construction. From a review of these cases we believe the following rules of interpretation clearly appear:

1. That unless a statute is ambiguous, the meaning thereof must be found in the words of the Act itself.

2. That words are used in their ordinary meaning and if any question arises as to their meaning, they should be interpreted liberally to make the law valid.

3. That special consideration be given to the declared purpose and policy of the Legislature.

4. That every word be given effect, and, if possible, the Court should avoid the rendering of any words ineffective or nugatory.

5. That the use of the word "or" in a series does not unify the parts, but separates them.

6. When the intent of the Legislature is made clear and certain, even though absurd and undesirable in the eyes of the Court, the Court cannot substitute its judgment for the judgment of the Legislature.

Under Point I we have discussed the last of the rules above listed. We shall now refer to some cases and authorities which support the other rules of construction as listed.

In *Spring Canyon Coal Company vs. Industrial Commission of Utah et al*, 74 Utah 103, 116, 277 Pacific 206, this Court says:

"It is a cardinal principal of uniform application in the construction or interpretation of a statute that the legislative intent as determined from the language used is of primary and controlling importance. When the language of a statute is plain and unambiguous, courts are bound by such language. They may not

resort to rules of statutory construction and interpretation to defeat the clear and definite meaning of the language used in a statute.”

The general statement of the rule is also found in 50 Am Jur (Statutes) Paragraph 227, Page 210:

“The only mode in which the will of a legislature is spoken, is in the statute itself. Hence, in the construction of statutes, it is the legislative intent manifested in the statute that is of importance, and such intent must be determined primarily from the language of the statute, which affords the best means of its exposition. Indeed, it is the duty of the courts to give a statute the interpretation its language calls for, where this can reasonably be done, and the general rule is that no intent may be imputed to the legislature in the enactment of a law other than such as is supported by the face of the law itself. The courts may not speculate as to the probable intent of the legislature apart from the words. A statute is to be taken, construed, and applied in the form enacted, and so declared, announced, and expounded. Popular demand as to the enforcement of a law adds nothing to, and detracts nothing from, the duty of the court to construe the law as it is. As a reason for these rules, it has been declared that *the legislature must be assumed or presumed to know the meaning of words, to have used the words of a statute advisedly, and to have expressed its intent by the use of the words found in the statute.*”

An illustration of how the Court interpreted the meaning of the word “capital” is found in the case of Parkinson vs. State Bank of Millard County et al, 87 Utah 278, 35 Pac. 2d 814. Plaintiff in that case contended that the word “capital” included all of the bank’s assets. The defendant’s position was that the word “capital” meant only the paid-up capital of

the original incorporators and investors, in other words "capital stock." Revised statutes of 1933, 7-3-35, read as follows:

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