1961

Howard Anderson et al v. Utah County and the Board of County Commissioners : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT'S MEMORANDUM DECISION IS NOT AN UNWARRANTED JUDICIAL VETO OF LEGISLATIVE AND EXECUTIVE ACTION.

We agree with the language of the Rowley case quoted by the Appellants at page 11 of their brief. (Rowley vs. Public Service Commission, 112 Utah 116, 185 Pac. 2nd 514). Particularly would we emphasize the language which says:

"On the other hand, when the legislative intent is not clear and certain, and a literal interpretation of the language of the statute gives an absurd result, then the court is justified in searching the enactment for further indications of legislative intent. These indications can be determined by the wording of the act

or by considering the underlying reasons and necessity of the amendments and the purposes to be accomplished.”

Since political parties are not specifically mentioned in the Right to Work Act, the Trial Court had to decide whether the act included political parties. The meaning of “or other associations” had to be determined. Is a political party an “association” within the meaning of the act?

The Trial Court held that so to find would “result in finding an unreasonable and absurd intention on the part of the legislature.” It would hamstring elected officials and a huge segment of public employees would be left with no statutory law fixing their work standards and tenure. The Trial Judge simply says that the legislature could not have intended such an absurd result.

Appellants frankly concede at page 8 of their brief that their case rests upon the premise that the phrase “or any other type of association” is all inclusive. Suppose some particular church had a policy to hire only ministers who were members of that church or, saying it in another way, had a policy not to hire ministers of any other faith but their own. Under the Appellants’ interpretation the church could not refuse to hire ministers for this reason because such refusal would violate the Right to Work Law. This absurd result is a sample of the multitude of ridiculous and unintended situations which would attend the application of the statute if appellants’ interpretation were correct.

That the Court may reject an unreasonable or absurd construction of a statute is set forth in 50 Am Jur (Statutes) Sec. 377, p. 385-389, where the text says in part at p. 385-387:

"A statute subject to interpretation is presumed not to have been intended to produce absurd consequences, but to have the most reasonable operation that its language permits, and it is a general rule that where a statute is ambiguous in terms and fairly susceptible of two constructions, the unreasonableness or absurdity which may follow one construction or the other may properly be considered. In some cases involving the construction of a statute, considerations of what is reasonable are even regarded as having potent influence. If possible, doubtful provisions should be given a reasonable, rational, sensible, and intelligent construction. Unreasonable, absurd, or ridiculous consequences should be avoided."

This Court approves this principle and so announced in *Norvill vs. State Tax Commission*, 98 Utah 170; 97 Pac. 2nd 937, referred to in Appellants' brief at p. 11 and also in *Rowley vs. Public Service Commission*, *Supra*.

POINT II

THE APPROPRIATE LEGAL RULES OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION AND INTENT DO NOT REQUIRE THE INCLUSION OF ALL TYPES OF ASSOCIATIONS WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE ACT.

Respondents submit that Utah's Right to Work Statute was intended to cover only labor organizations and not political parties and all other organizations. U. C. A. 34-16-2 reads:

"It is hereby declared to be the public policy of the State of Utah that the right of persons to work . . . shall not be denied . . . on account of membership or non-membership in any labor union, labor organization or any other type of organization . . ."

The rule of statutory construction called *Ejusdem Generis* (of the same kind, class or nature) can reasonably and justifiably be applied to this statute and to the Right to Work Law in general. The statute would then read:

“The . . . right . . . to work . . . shall not be denied . . . on account of membership or non-membership in any labor union, labor organization, or any other type of (labor) organization.”

The general rule is set forth in 82 CJS Sec. 332 p. 658 and in 50 Am. Jur. Sec. 249 p. 244-246 where the following appears:

“General and specific words in a statute which are associated together, and which are capable of an analogous meaning, take color from each other, so that the general words are restricted to a sense analogous to the less general. Under this rule, general terms in a statute may be regarded as limited by subsequent more specific terms. Similarly, in accordance with what is commonly known as the rule of *Ejusdem Generis*, where, in a statute, general words follow a designation of particular subjects or classes of persons, the meaning of the general words will ordinarily be presumed to be, and construed as, restricted by the particular designation and as including only things or persons of the same kind, class, character, or nature as those specifically enumerated. The general words are deemed to have been used, not to the wide extent which they might bear if standing alone, but as related to words of more definite and particular meaning with which they are associated. In accordance with the rule of *Ejusdem Generis*, such terms as “other,” “other thing,” “other persons,” “otherwise,” or “any other,” when preceded by a specific enumeration, are commonly given a restricted meaning, and limited to ar-

ticles of the same nature as those previously described. The rule of *Ejusdem Generis* has been declared to be specific application of the broader maxim of "*noscitur a sociis*," which is discussed in other sections of this subdivision."

A collection of cases on the doctrine is set forth in 14 Words and Phrases at p. 212-221.

This Court has recently approved and applied the doctrine in *Donahue vs. Warner Brothers Pictures Distributing Corporation*, 272 Pac. 2nd 177, 2 Utah 2nd 256; *W. S. Hatch Company vs. Public Service Commission*, 277 Pac. 2nd 809, 3 Utah 2nd 7 and *Memorial Gardens of the Valley, Incorporated vs. Love*, 300 Pac. 2nd 628, 5 Utah 2nd 270.

With respect to the proffered exhibit 1, a letter sent by the then Governor, J. Bracken Lee, the Court properly excluded the evidence. First, because the letter does not mention political parties and, therefore, is of no use to the Court and also the same is inadmissible as incompetent (T. 65, 66). Is this letter admissible as an "executive view" as claimed on page 21 of Appellants' brief? In *Fleming vs. Mohawk Wrecking and Lumber Company*, 331 U. S. 111, cited by Appellants as authority for admissibility of exhibit 1, the Court was construing an act which had been repeatedly construed by the President of the United States. We emphasize the words "had been" since the Court was referring to an executive experience in construing the act.

In *E. C. Olsen Company vs. State Tax Commission*, 109 Utah 563, 168 Pac. 2nd 324, also cited by Appellants as authority for the admission of exhibit 1, the Court states at page 332 in 168 Pac. 2nd that:

"Where there is an ambiguity in the statute as to whether the latter does or does not cover a particular matter a practical construction of the statute shown to have been the accepted construction of the agency charged with administering the matters in question under the statute will be one factor which the Court may take into consideration as persuasive as to the meaning of the statute."

The Court then found that the facts of that case "do not show a practical interpretation of the statute by the Tax Commission."

It is submitted that former Governor Lee's opinion of the legal meaning of the statute given before passage of the act in a letter to legislators and other interested persons is not "practical interpretation of the statute" and is a legal conclusion (T. 62, 63).

For the same reason oral testimony about what the former Governor believed the law to have meant prior to its passage, was also properly excluded by the Trial Court.

POINT III

POLITICAL PARTIES ARE NOT CONTEMPLATED BY THE ACT.

Respondents concede that the Utah Right to Work statute has different wording than other Right to Work Statutes. Utah has made the act apply to the State and to its political subdivisions and does so by specifically defining employer to include all persons, firms, associations, corporations, the State of Utah, its counties, cities, school districts, and other political subdivisions. If the legislature had intended the act to apply to political parties, it could

have made it crystal clear by simply saying so. Merely because the legislature broadened the meaning of employer to include the State and its subdivisions, does not per se mean that every conceivable kind of association is subject to the act.

Respondents submit that while the opinion of the distinguished President of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints is interesting and perhaps states a concept many would agree with, such statement is not in the record and in any event is of no probative value in determining the intent of the legislature in this case.

POINT IV

EVEN IF THE STATUTE WERE TO COVER POLITICAL PARTIES, IT WAS NOT VIOLATED SINCE THE APPELLANTS WERE DISCHARGED FOR TWO REASONS, ONE POLITICAL AND THE OTHER NON-POLITICAL.

The Trial Court found as a fact that the Appellants were fired for two reasons—one for membership in the Democratic party and lack of membership in the Republican party, and the other because the supervising County Commissioner felt that the Appellants could not be loyal (Findings of Fact No. 8). Commissioner Jones felt he could not expect loyalty from the men who had contributed substantial sums to unseat him (T. 33).

The brief of Appellants correctly states on page 3 that Appellants asserted at the trial that they were fired because they were members of the Democratic party and not members of the Republican party. The second amended peti-

tion which sets out Appellants' contentions in the pleadings flatly asserts at paragraph 6 that:

"The depriving of the petitioners of their said employment, as aforesaid, was effected because of their association with and active support of, the Democratic party in Utah County, contrary to and in violation of said statute."

One might compare this situation to one where a union official disliked by management is fired for two reasons: membership in a union and stealing from the employer. Surely this discharge would not violate a Right to Work Law. The Right to Work Law covers only that situation where the sole reason for discharge is membership or non-membership in a labor union or labor organization.

Likewise, here, where such a dual motive prompted the discharge, the law was not violated even if it be assumed that political parties were intended to be covered by the statute.

POINT V

IF UTAH'S "RIGHT TO WORK" LAW IS INTERPRETED TO INCLUDE POLITICAL PARTIES WITHIN THE PHRASE ". . . ANY OTHER TYPE OF ASSOCIATION . . ." IT IS AN UNCONSTITUTIONAL EXERCISE OF THE POLICE POWER.

The constitutionality of the "Right to Work" Laws has been repeatedly affirmed by the U. S. Supreme Court. The leading case (really two cases considered together) is *Lincoln Federal Labor Union vs. Northwestern Iron and Metal Company*, 335 U. S. 525, 69 S. Ct. 251 (1959). This case involved a North Carolina statute and a Nebraska

constitutional amendment which provided that no person in those states shall be denied an opportunity to obtain or retain employment because he is or is not a member of a labor organization. The constitutionality of the laws was affirmed. The Courts said it had:

“ . . . consciously returned closer and closer to the earlier constitutional principle that states have power to regulate against what are found to be injurious practices in their internal commercial and business affairs, so long as their laws do not run afoul of some specific federal constitutional prohibition, or of some valid federal law. Just as we have held that the due process clause erects no obstacle to block legislative protection of union members, we now hold that legislative protection can be afforded non-union workers.”

A long string of decisions have followed this case. All cases have been limited to labor troubles with some type of labor organization involved. In no case found has any Court even suggested applying the “Right to Work” Laws to other than labor organizations.

There is little doubt as to the constitutionality of state laws which operate under the police power and which regulate economic affairs, and, in particular, regulate evil practices in labor fields. This, however, does not mean that all state regulation in the labor field is constitutional; it is only constitutional if it is not unreasonable, or capricious, or arbitrary and the means selected have a real and substantial relation to the object sought to be obtained. If, “ . . . any other type of association . . . ” is interpreted to mean a political party (or any other group that is not connected with labor) then it becomes unreasonable and arbitrary, and is unconstitutional as an invalid exercise

of the police power because it limits personal freedoms guaranteed by the United States and Utah State Constitutions. It would limit freedom without any real evil to be corrected. To say that it is reasonable and non-arbitrary to put limitations on labor unions is far different than to say it is reasonable and non-arbitrary to put the same limitations on all organizations of whatever kind or nature.

A further consideration as to whether political parties should be included within the statute is the nature of political parties themselves. In *Yuratich vs. Palaguemines Parish Dem. Exec. Com.*, La. App., 32 So. 2nd 647, 652, the Court noted that:

“A political party is a voluntary association of individuals organized for purposes of furthering particular political or economic beliefs.”

United States vs. Shirley, D. C. Pa., 168 F. Supp. 382, 385 defined a political party as:

“a body of persons associated for the purpose of promoting certain views, opinions or principles with respect to the government and is not a person, firm, or a corporation.”

How can a political party satisfactorily promote its political and economic views and opinions if its hands are tied with respect to whom its candidates can hire and fire? There is nothing inherently bad in the “spoils” system. The candidates of the party which wins hire those to work for them who have worked for and who hold common views. At times, the legislature has specifically withdrawn certain jobs from this system, but has put them under a merit system when doing so. Some political personalities are elec-

ted specifically because they stand on a policy of "house-cleaning their departments to eliminate dead wood." This right or power should not be taken from elected officials unless it is the clear intent of the legislature to take it away. Without leaving a merit system in its place leaves "dead wood" to accumulate. It is not clear in this case that it was the intent of the legislature to include political parties. Rather, the weight of evidence indicates that it was not their intent to include political parties. State ex rel Corrigan vs. Cleveland-Cliffs Iron Company, 157 northeast 2nd 331, 333, 169 Ohio State 42 defined a political party as.

"an association of individuals whose primary purposes are to promote or accomplish elections or appointments to public offices, positions or jobs."

To give an interpretation to the law which would limit political parties and thus, elected officials so that they could not accomplish some of their goals by hiring and firing would be arbitrary and unreasonable and thus, violate both the United States and Utah State Constitutions.

CONCLUSION

Respondents believe the phrase "any other type of association" should be interpreted in accordance with the rules of Eiusdem Generis. The phrase would then read "any other type of (labor) association". This interpretation would exclude political parties from coverage by the act.

Respondents believe that if the phrase does mean all associations as contended by the Appellants that the statute would be absurd and unreasonable and the Court is

justified in adopting an interpretation which would not require absurd and unreasonable consequences.

Respondents further take the position that even if political parties were included within the coverage of the act that the statute was not even violated since Appellants were fired for two reasons: membership in the political party and because Commissioner Jones felt they could not be loyal to him, their supervising Commissioner.

Finally, Appellants urge that if Utah's Right to Work Laws is interpreted to include political parties, it is an unconstitutional exercise of the state police power.

Respondents feel that the decision of the Trial Court can be supported on any one of the above listed grounds.

ARNOLD C. ROYLANCE
Utah County Attorney

RICHARD M. TAYLOR
275 North Main Street
Spanish Fork, Utah